UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL ORGANIZATION

CONCILIATION AND GOOD OFFICES COMMISSION TO BE RESPONSIBLE FOR SEEKING THE SETTLEMENT OF ANY DISPUTES WHICH MAY ARISE BETWEEN STATES PARTIES TO THE CONVENTION AGAINST DISCRIMINATION IN EDUCATION

RULES OF PROCEDURE OF THE CONCILIATION AND GOOD OFFICES COMMISSION

(Declared adopted on 21 December 1971 and altered on 10 April 1974 and 14 October 2005)

PREAMBLE

The Conciliation and Good Offices Commission (hereinafter referred to as the Commission) to be responsible for seeking the settlement of any disputes which may arise between States Parties to the Convention against Discrimination in Education (hereinafter referred to as the Convention),

Having regard to Article 1 of the Protocol instituting a Conciliation and Good Offices Commission to be responsible for seeking the amicable settlement of disputes between States Parties to the Convention against Discrimination in Education (hereinafter referred to as the Protocol),

Having regard to the other provisions of the said Protocol,

Acting in pursuance of paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 11 of the Protocol,

Establishes the present Rules:

TITLE I

ORGANIZATION AND WORKING OF THE COMMISSION

CHAPTER I

Members of the Commission

Rule 1

1. The term of office of members of the Commission elected by the General Conference at one of its sessions shall begin on the date of their election.

2. In the case of members elected at subsequent sessions of the General Conference, the term of office shall be calculated as from the date of the expiry of the term of their predecessors.

3. However, in the case of the replacement of a member whose seat has been declared vacant in accordance with the provisions of Article 6 of the Protocol the new member shall take up his duties on his election and for the unexpired portion of the term of office.

4. Subject to the provisions of Article 6 of the Protocol, a member of the Commission shall remain in office until his successor takes up his duties.

Rule 2

1. Any State Party to a dispute which intends to choose a person to sit on the Commission as a member <u>ad hoc</u> under the provisions of Article 8 of the Protocol shall so notify the Secretary of the Commission. A State Party which refers a dispute to the Commission shall notify at the time of referral. Other States Parties shall give notification within a time-limit fixed by the Chairman.

2. The name, address and biographical résumé of the person chosen to sit as a member \underline{ad} <u>hoc</u> shall be stated, as the case may be, either at the time of referral of the dispute to the Commission or within the time-limit fixed by the Chairman.

3. The notification mentioned in the preceding paragraphs shall be communicated to the other States Parties to the dispute.

4. The provisions of Article 30 shall apply to the choosing of members <u>ad hoc</u>.

<u>Rule 3</u>

If, on receipt of one or more notifications under the terms of the preceding Rule, the Chairman finds (notes) that several States Parties to the dispute have the same interest and that none of them has a member of its nationality on the Commission, the Chairman shall fix a time-limit within which these States Parties, acting in agreement, shall choose a member <u>ad</u> <u>hoc</u> under the provisions of Article 8 of the Protocol. In the event of a dispute that the same interest exists, the Chairman shall refer it to the Commission which shall decide after receiving, if necessary, the observations of the States Parties to the dispute.

Rule 4

If a member <u>ad hoc</u> chosen under the provisions of Article 8 of the Protocol is unable to carry out his duties, the Chairman shall notify each State Party to the dispute concerned and fix a new and appropriate time-limit within which the State Party or States Parties, shall, if desired, choose another member <u>ad hoc</u>.

<u>Rule 5</u>

In the event that a member <u>ad hoc</u> has not been chosen under the provisions of Article 8 of the Protocol within the time-limit fixed by the Chairman under Rules 2, 3 and 4, the Commission shall nevertheless proceed to deal with the dispute.

<u>Ad hoc</u> members chosen under the provisions of Article 8 of the Protocol shall sit with the members of the Commission for the dispute for which they have been chosen and participate under the same conditions in the proceedings for such matter.

Rule 7

1. Each member and member <u>ad hoc</u> of the Commission shall make the following declaration:

"I solemnly declare that I will perform my duties and exercise my powers as a member of the Commission honourably, faithfully, impartially and conscientiously".

2. This declaration shall be made at the first meeting of the Commission at which the member is present after the election or after being chosen under the provisions of Article 8 of the Protocol.

CHAPTER II

Chairmanship of the Commission

<u>Rule 8</u>

1. In accordance with Article 11 of the Protocol, the Commission shall elect a Chairman and a Vice-Chairman. The Chairman and the Vice-Chairman shall remain in office until such time as their successors take up their duties.

2. The elections referred to in the present Rule shall take place by secret ballot. The member of the Commission obtaining an absolute majority (i.e. more than half) of the votes cast shall be declared elected. If no member receives an absolute majority, a second ballot shall take place. The member receiving the most votes shall then be elected. If the vote is equally divided, the member having precedence according to the length of time in office or, in the event of equal time in office, according to seniority of age.

3. If no meeting of the Commission is planned after the expiry of the two-year period mentioned in Article 11 (1) of the Protocol, the Chairman may decide that the elections referred to in the present Rule shall take place by correspondence.

4. This procedure shall also be adopted upon the request of at least one-third of the members of the Commission.

5. Elections by correspondence shall be subject to the provisions of paragraph 2 of the present Rule. The Secretary of the Commission shall be responsible for the operations relating to such elections.

<u>Rule 9</u>

The Chairman shall direct the work of the Commission; he shall preside at the meetings of the Commission.

The Vice-Chairman shall take the place of the Chairman if the latter is unable carry out his duties or if the office of Chairman is vacant.

<u>Rule 11</u>

If at the same time both the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman are unable to fulfil their duties, or if both offices are vacant at the same time, the duties of Chairman shall be discharged by another member according to the order of precedence laid down in paragraph 2 of Rule 8.

<u>Rule 12</u>

If the Chairman is a national of one of the States Parties to a dispute referred to the Commission, he shall abstain from exercising his functions as Chairman in respect of that dispute. The same rule shall apply to the Vice-Chairman or to any member of the Commission who may be called on to act as Chairman.

<u>Rule 13</u>

If the Chairman of the Commission for some special reason considers that he should abstain from exercising his functions as Chairman in respect of a particular dispute, he shall so inform the Vice-Chairman or the member acting in his place.

<u>Rule 14</u>

If the examination of a dispute has begun before a periodic election of members of the Commission and continues after such election, the duties of the Chairman shall be discharged by the member of the Commission who presided when the dispute was last under examination. If he is unable to sit, the duties of Chairman shall be performed by the newly elected Chairman or, failing him, the newly elected Vice-Chairman, provided that the Chairman or the Vice-Chairman, as the case may be, is not otherwise precluded from being Chairman under these Rules. If neither is able to be Chairman, the duties of Chairman shall be performed by another member according to the order of precedence laid down in paragraph 2 of Rule 8.

CHAPTER III

Secretariat of the Commission

<u>Rule 15</u>

1. Pursuant to Article 10 of the Protocol, the Secretariat of the Commission shall be provided by the Director-General of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization.

2. The Director-General shall appoint the Secretary of the Commission after consultation with the Chairman of the Commission.

<u>Rule 16</u>

The Secretary of the Commission

- (a) shall assist the Commission and the members of the Commission in the fulfilment of their duties;
- (b) shall be the channel for all communications concerning the Commission;
- (c) shall have custody of the archives of the Commission.

<u>Rule 17</u>

1. A special register shall be kept at the Secretariat. In this register, the Secretary of the Commission shall enter all significant data concerning the referral of a dispute to the Commission and the conduct and disposition of each proceeding thereon. In particular, all disputes, relevant pleadings and exhibits shall be entered in the order of their submission and without intervening spaces or deletions.

2. Entries in the register and the notes of entries on the original documents and, at the request of the States Parties, on copies presented by them for that purpose shall have effect as certified matters of record.

3. The manner of keeping the register shall be laid down by the Chairman in consultation with the Secretary of the Commission.

<u>Rule 18</u>

The duties of the Secretary of the Commission, other than those specified in Rule 16 and 17, shall be laid down by the Chairman in agreement with the Director-General.

CHAPTER IV

Working of the Commission

<u>Rule 19</u>

The seat of the Commission shall be at the seat of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization at Paris.

<u>Rule 20</u>

The Commission shall be convened when necessary by the Chairman. It shall also be convened by the Chairman when at least one-third of the members of the Commission consider that the Commission should examine a matter in accordance with the provisions of the Protocol.

The date and time of meetings shall be fixed by the Chairman after consultation with the Director-General.

<u>Rule 22</u>

1. Two-thirds of the members, including the members <u>ad hoc</u>, if any, shall constitute a quorum.

2. If a meeting of the Commission has been convened and it is found that there is no quorum, the Chairman may carry out consultations with the members present

<u>Rule 23</u>

Meetings of the Commission shall be held in camera.

<u>Rule 24</u>

1. The hearings of the Commission shall take place in private and, except as the States Parties otherwise agree, shall remain secret.

2. The Commission shall decide, with the consent of the States Parties, which other persons besides the States Parties, their agents, counsels and advocates, and Secretariat of the Commission, may attend the hearings.

Rule 25

1. The Commission shall deliberate in private. Its deliberations and the statements made within it shall be and shall remain secret.

2. Only the members and the members <u>ad hoc</u> of the Commission shall take part in the deliberations of the Commission.

3. The Secretary shall be present at the deliberations. No other person may be admitted except by decision of the Commission.

<u>Rule 26</u>

1. Decisions of the Commission shall be made by a majority of the members and member ad hoc present.

2. If a vote is equally divided, the Chairman shall have a casting vote.

<u>Rule 27</u>

The minutes of the deliberations concerning a dispute shall be secret; they shall be limited to a record of the subject of the discussions, the votes taken, the names of those voting for and against a motion and any statements expressly made for insertion in the minutes.

<u>Rule 28</u>

Members who are prevented by illness or other serious reason from taking part in the meetings shall, as soon as possible, give notice thereof to the Secretary of the Commission who shall inform the Chairman.

Rule 29

If a member of the Commission for some special reason considers that he should not take part in the examination of a particular dispute, the Chairman and the member concerned shall consult together. In the event of disagreement, the Commission shall decide.

<u>Rule 30</u>

Members of the Commission may not take part in the examination of any dispute referred to the Commission and in which they have previously acted as the agents, advisers or legal representatives of one of the States Parties to the dispute or concerning which they have been required to state an opinion. In the event of doubt or dispute, the Commission shall decide.

<u>TITLE II</u>

PROCEDURE

Chapter I

General Rules

<u>Rule 31</u>

The official languages of the Commission shall be Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Russian and Spanish.

<u>Rule 32</u>

1. The states Parties to the dispute may agree for their use on one or more languages as working languages in the proceedings, provided that, subject to the provisions of paragraph 2 of this Rule, if they agree on any language that is not an official language, the Commission or, in the interval between meetings, the Chairman, after consultation with the Director-General, approves. If the States Parties to the dispute do not agree on any such working language or languages, each of them may select one of the official languages for this purpose.

2. If a State Party to a dispute uses a language other than an official language of the Commission, it shall be wholly responsible for the arrangements for and the special expenses incurred by any translation and interpretation into and from that language.

<u>Rule 33</u>

The States Parties to the dispute shall be represented before the Commission by their agents who may have the assistance of counsel or advocates.

<u>Rule 34</u>

1. The Commission shall deal with disputes referred to it in the order in which they become ready for hearing. It may, however, decide to give precedence to a particular dispute.

2. The Commission may at the request of a State Party to a dispute or *ex officio* order that the examination of the dispute be postponed.

<u>Rule 35</u>

The Commission may, if it considers necessary, order the joinder of two or more disputes.

Chapter II

Institution of proceedings

<u>Rule 36</u>

The notice by a State referring a dispute to the Commission under Article 12 of the Protocol shall be dated, shall be signed by that State Party, shall state the name of the agent of that State Party, and shall set forth the initial communication of the complaining State, the explanation or statement, if any, of the receiving State concerning the matter, together with such other correspondence as may have been exchanged between the States Parties to the dispute.

<u>Rule 37</u>

1. If States Parties to the Convention agree to submit a dispute to the Commission in accordance with the provisions of Article 13 of the Protocol, the dispute may be referred to the Commission by notification of the agreement to the Director-General by one or more of the States Parties to the agreement.

2. The agreement to submit a dispute to the Commission in accordance with the provisions of Article 13 of the Protocol shall set forth the States Parties to the dispute, the provision or provisions of the Convention, the application or interpretation of which have given rise to the dispute, as well as any measures agreed concerning the settlement of the dispute.

<u>Rule 38</u>

The State Party or States Parties referring a dispute to the Commission under Article 12 or Article 13 of the Protocol shall provide information enabling the Commission to determine whether the conditions laid down in Article 14 of the Protocol have been satisfied.

<u>Rule 39</u>

The notice given by a State in referring a dispute to the Commission under Article 12 of the Protocol, or the agreement to submit a dispute to the Commission under Article 13 of the Protocol, notified to the Director-General, as the case may be, shall be accompanied by six additional signed copies. The Director-General may require such further copies as he may deem necessary.

<u>Rule 40</u>

The Director-General shall transmit the notice mentioned in Rule 36 or the agreement mentioned in Rule 37, as the case may be, to the Chairman of the Commission.

<u>Rule 41</u>

1. When a dispute is referred to the Commission under Article 12, the Secretary of the Commission shall forthwith transmit to the other State Party to the dispute a copy of the notice certified as correct.

2. When a dispute is referred to the Commission under Article 13 by means of an agreement filed by one only of the States Parties to the dispute, the Secretary of the Commission shall forthwith notify the other State Party that it has been so filed.

<u>Rule 42</u>

1. The Secretary of the Commission shall forthwith transmit to all members and members <u>ad hoc</u> of the Commission copies of notices given to the Director-General in referring a dispute to the Commission under Article 12 of the Protocol or of any agreement to submit a dispute to the Commission under Article 13 of the Protocol notified to the Director-General in accordance with Rule 37.

2. The Secretary of the Commission shall inform the States Parties to the Convention of any notice by a State in referring a dispute to the Commission under Article 12 of the Protocol or of any agreement to submit a dispute to the Commission under Article 13 of the Protocol notified by the Director-General in accordance with Rule 37.

<u>Rule 43</u>

1. When a dispute is referred to the Commission under Article 12 of the Protocol, the State Party to whom notice is given shall, when acknowledging receipt of the notice, or failing this, as soon as possible, inform the Commission of the name of its agent.

2. When a dispute is referred to the Commission by notification of an agreement to submit a dispute under Article 13 of the Protocol, the appointment of the agent or agents of the State Party or the States Parties filing the agreement shall be notified at the same time as the agreement is filed. If the agreement is filed by one only of the States Parties, the other State Party shall, when acknowledging receipt of the notification of the filing of the agreement or failing this, as soon as possible, inform the Commission of the name of its agent.

3. The appointment of an agent must be accompanied by a statement of an address for service at the seat of the Commission or in Paris to which all communications relating to the dispute should be sent.

1. The State referring a dispute to the Commission under Article 12 may, by written notice to the Chairman, withdraw the dispute.

2. A dispute referred to the Commission under Article 13 may be withdrawn by written notice to the Chairman given by all States Parties to the agreement to submit the dispute.

3. The Secretary of the Commission shall inform all States Parties to the Convention of the withdrawal of the dispute.

CHAPTER III

Procedure before the Commission

<u>Rule 45</u>

As early as possible after a dispute has been referred to the Commission under Article 12 or Article 13 of the Protocol, but before the Commission has been convened, the Chairman shall ascertain the views of the states Parties to the dispute regarding questions of procedure. For this purpose he may request these States Parties to meet with him. He shall, in particular, ascertain their views on the following:

- (a) the language or languages to be used in the proceeding;
- (b) the written or oral submissions which each State Party to the dispute intends to make, and the time-limits within which such submissions shall be made.

<u>Rule 46</u>

During the meeting referred to in Rule 45, or at any time thereafter but before the Commission has been convened, the Chairman may, after having informed the members of the Commission, suggest to the Parties any measures likely to bring about the amicable settlement of the dispute.

<u>Rule 47</u>

1. In the light of the information obtained by him pursuant to Rule 45, the Commission, or in the interval between meetings, the Chairman shall determine the time-limits for the conduct of the proceedings.

2. So far as possible, in the application of paragraph l of this Rule, any agreement between the States Parties to the dispute shall be taken into account.

3. The Commission, or in the interval between meetings, the Chairman, may extend any time limit which has been fixed. In special circumstances and after the opposing State Party has been given an opportunity of stating its views, the Commission, or in the interval between meetings the Chairman, may decide that any step taken after the expiration of a time limit shall be considered as valid. In the event of this being contested, it is for the Commission to decide.

<u>Rule 48</u>

When pursuant to Article 12 of the Protocol a dispute is referred to the Commission, the Chairman of the Commission shall invite the State Party to whom, notice is given as well as any State Party to the Protocol whose national is concerned to submit to the Commission its observations in writing on the admissibility of such matter.

<u>Rule 49</u>

The Commission, before it decides as to the admissibility of a dispute, may, if it thinks fit, invite the States Parties to the dispute and any State Party to the Protocol whose national is concerned to submit to it further comments in writing. It may also invite these States Parties to make oral explanations.

<u>Rule 50</u>

The decision of the Commission in regard to the admissibility of a dispute shall be accompanied by reasons. The Secretary of the Commission shall communicate such decision to the States Parties to the dispute and to any State Party to the Protocol whose national is concerned.

<u>Rule 51</u>

1. If the Commission accepts the dispute which was referred to it under Article 12 or Article 13 of the Protocol, it shall hear the States Parties during the hearings provided for in Rule 24 of these Rules of Procedure in order to clarify the issues in dispute between them, and shall endeavour to obtain any information that might serve this end. The Commission shall seek as far as possible to obtain the full cooperation of the States concerned in the work of the Commission.

2. In order to bring about agreement between the States Parties to the dispute, as provided in Article 17 of the Protocol, the Commission may, at any time, make – orally or in writing – recommendations to the States Parties to the dispute. It may recommend that the States Parties to the dispute accept specific terms of settlement. It shall point out to the States Parties to the dispute arguments in favour of its recommendations. It may fix time limits within which each State Party to the dispute shall inform the Commission of its decision concerning the recommendations made.

3. The Commission, in order to obtain information that might enable it to discharge its functions, may at any stage of the proceeding request from either State Party to the dispute or from a State Party to the Protocol whose national is concerned oral explanations, documents and other information.

<u>Rule 52</u>

1. The Commission may take any other measure which it considers expedient in order to carry out the duties laid down in Article 17 of the Protocol.

2. The Commission shall take formal note of the refusal of any State Party to the dispute to comply with such measures.

CHAPTER IV

Reports of the Commission on disputes referred to it

<u>Rule 53</u>

The Report provided for in paragraph 3 of Article 17 of the Protocol in the event that a solution within the terms of paragraph l of that Article is reached shall contain:

- (a) the date on which it was drawn up;
- (b) the names of the Chairman and members and members <u>ad hoc</u> of the Commission;
- (c) the names of the States Parties;
- (d) the names of the agents, counsel and advocates of the States Parties;
- (e) a statement of facts;
- (f) the terms of the solution reached;
- (g) a statement of the number of members of the Commission forming a majority.

<u>Rule 54</u>

The report provided for in paragraph 3 of Article 17 in the event that a solution within the terms of paragraph 1 of that Article is not reached shall contain, in addition to items (a), (b), (c), (d), (e) and (g) as specified in Rule 53, the recommendations which the Commission made with a view to conciliation and any proposal which the Commission may consider appropriate.

<u>Rule 55</u>

Each member of the Commission or member <u>ad hoc</u> may, in accordance with paragraph 3 of Article 17 or the Protocol, attach to the reports of the Commission provided for in such paragraph a separate opinion.

Rule 56

The reports provided for in paragraph 3 of Article 17 of the Protocol shall be signed by the Chairman and by the Secretary of the Commission.

<u>Rule 57</u>

The reports of the Commission provided for in paragraph 3 of Article 17 of the Protocol attached with each separate opinion, if any, together with the written and oral submissions made by the parties to the dispute in accordance with Article 11, paragraph 2 (c) of the Protocol, shall be sent to the States Parties to the dispute and to any State Party to the Protocol whose national is concerned and then communicated to the Director-General for publication.

<u>TITLE III</u>

REPORT TO THE GENERAL CONFERENCE ON THE COMMISSION'S ACTIVITIES

<u>Rule 58</u>

1. The Chairman shall prepare and submit to the General Conference on behalf of the Commission the reports on the Commission's activities mentioned in Article 19 of the Protocol. These reports shall be sent in advance to the members of the Commission for their observations, if any, within a fixed time limit.

2. No report shall be prepared in the absence of any proceedings by the Commission.

TITLE IV

FINAL PROVISIONS

<u>Rule 59</u>

1. Any question not dealt with in these Rules shall be decided by the Commission.

2. In a case of urgency, the Chairman may consult the members of the Commission by correspondence. Any decision taken as a result must have been approved by a majority of the members.

<u>Rule 60</u>

1. These Rules, except when they reproduce provisions of the Protocol, may be altered by decision of the Commission taken by a majority of the members of the Commission present and voting.

2. The Rules as altered shall be communicated to the Parties to the Protocol.